

IoT use cases

Planon Software Suite Version: L105



© 1997 - 2024 Planon. All rights reserved.

Planon and the Planon logo are registered trademarks of Planon Software Development B.V. or its affiliates. All other product and company names mentioned herein are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective companies. Planon Software Development B.V., its affiliates and/or licensors own the copyright to all Planon software and its associated data files and user manuals.

Although every effort has been made to ensure this document and the Planon software are accurate, complete and up to date at the time of writing, Planon Software Development B.V. does not accept liability for the consequences of any misinterpretations, errors or omissions.

A customer is authorized to use the Planon software and its associated data files and user manuals within the terms and conditions of the license agreement between customer and the respective legal Planon entity as soon as the respective Planon entity has received due payment for the software license.

Planon Software Development B.V. strictly prohibits the copying of its software, data files, user manuals and training material. However, customers are authorized to make a back-up copy of the original CD-ROMs supplied, which can then be used in the event of data loss or corruption.

No part of this document may be reproduced in any form for any purpose (including photocopying, copying onto microfilm, or storing in any medium by electronic means) without the prior written permission of Planon Software Development B.V. No copies of this document may be published, distributed, or made available to third parties, whether by paper, electronic or other means without Planon Software Development B.V.'s prior written permission.

About this Document

Intended Audience

This document is intended for Planon Software Suite users.

Contacting us

If you have any comments or questions regarding this document, please send them to: support@planonsoftware.com.

Document Conventions

Bold Names of menus, options, tabs, fields and buttons are displayed in bold type.

Italic text Application names are displayed in italics.

CAPITALS

Names of keys are displayed in upper case.

Special symbols

1	Text preceded by this symbol references additional information or a tip.
•	Text preceded by this symbol is intended to alert users about consequences if they carry out a particular action in Planon.

Table of Contents

oT use cases	
Smart Utility Metering	
How does it work?8	
Concepts	
Data point8	
ESG9	
Configuration9	
Add a digital twin definition9	
Preconfigured settings10	
Create a digital twin11	
IoT platfom settings	
Edit digital twin15	
Link physical devices	
Updating the solution	
Receiving readings17	
Handling errors	
Automatically creating work orders18	
DTAP support21	
Sync with IoT platform23	
Smart Climatized-Asset Management24	
How does it work?25	
Configuration25	
Add a digital twin definition25	
Preconfigured settings	
Restore to factory settings	
Create a digital twin27	

IoT platform settings
Link physical devices
Updating the solution
Receiving notifications
Automatically creating work orders
Synchronizing settings
DTAP support
Sync with IoT platform
Smart Asset Tracking
How does it work?
Configuration
Add a digital twin definition
Preconfigured settings
Restore to factory settings
Create a digital twin
IoT platform settings
Link physical devices
Updating the solution 41
DTAP support
Sync with IoT platform43
Index45

IoT use cases

This section lists and describes the various use cases that have been developed for Planon IoT.

Use cases provide an easy and out-of-the-box solution for a specific requirement.

They are made available to extend Planon functionality based on apps.

Smart Utility Metering

Smart Utility Metering is an out-of-the-box solution that provides easy monitoring on Gas, Water and Electricity data points.

The Smart Utility Metering solution is part of a larger campaign for ESG (Environmental, Social and Governance), enabling companies/organizations to monitor their performance in these areas.

Smart Utitly Metering

- Works for business objects to which you can link a digital twin.
- Provides an overview of data points with hourly and daily readings and subsequently creates daily meter readings on meters of your choice.

Once enabled, the Smart Utility Metering feature **automatically** creates data points, group templates, rules and other important components on the IoT platform. As such, the solution provides a plug-and-play IoT experience.



The ESG – Smart Utility Metering is available for L89 (and later).
 The Smart Utility Metering app is not upgraded automatically with each Planon Live version. Future developments will require you to delete and recreate your Digital Twin definitions.
 The Smart Utility Metering solution only supports properties within a single time zone.

• The Smart Utility Metering solution only supports properties within a single time zone. There is currently no MTZ support (soon to be supported).

How does it work?

Smart Utility Metering helps companies/organizations gain insight in their utilities consumption.

Use case

i

It does so in two ways:

- Enables you to measure real-time consumption (hourly/daily) of water, gas, electricity in the IoT platform.
- Automatically creates meter readings on a daily basis in the Planon application.

By using these meter readings, you can build and populate ESG dashboards allowing you to monitor and steer your performance.



Concepts

The following topics describe the concepts that are key to understanding the functionality.

Data point

A measurement event that is displayed as a tile.

Smart Utility Metering focuses on three types of data points:



- Gas
- Water
- Electricity

ESG

ESG is an acronym that stands for environmental, social, and corporate governance.

It is a framework designed to be embedded into an organization's strategy that considers the needs and ways in which to generate value for all organizational stakeholders (such as employees, customers and suppliers and financiers).

Configuration

This section describes the steps/configuration required to enable Smart Utility Metering.

Add a digital twin definition

The digital twin definition features a number of fields that can be used by Planon partners or solution developers when creating apps on the Planon platform.

Smart Utility Metering is a system app, which means that it is pre-installed and (as of L89) available in your Planon environment and can be used out of-the-box.

Procedure

1. Go to **Digital twins** and add a new definition.

See Creating a digital twin definition for more information.

- 2. Enter a name to uniquely identify your digital twin.
- 3. Specify a busines object typically, this is **Properties** or **Assets**.



In this example, we've chosen to create a digital twin definition for **Properties**.

4. In the Classname field, select the Smart Utility Metering app.

The app is developed to make available the functionality as described in the use case.

5. Click Save.

The new definition is created.

Automatically, a number of components are now created in the Planon application.

Preconfigured settings

Selecting the app unlocks configuration specified by the app.

Settings tab

On the digital twin definition's Settings tab, the app's settings are preconfigured.

For SmartUtilityMetering, there is a single setting: **boTypeGaugemeterReading**. This is where you specify the type of meter reading.

• The default value is *Gauge meter reading*, but you can specify your own meter type if necessary.

• Do NOT alter the preconfigured settings, rules and group templates on the IoT platform as this will break the app's operation.

Technical details tab

The digital twin definition's Technical details tab displays the app's context.

Data points

This contains six data points concerning:

- GasHourly
- GasDaily
- ElectricityHourly
- ElectricityDaily
- WaterHourly
- WaterDaily

Action

The app also has a **DailyConsumption** action.

When an inbound message arrives at the Connector, and its body contains the app's classname and action name, the **Smart Utility Metering** app will process the values that are received from the IoT platform.

Only the Smart Utility Metering app will be able to act on this trigger.

When a Daily consumption event is included in the message body, the app will create a meter reading in the Planon application.

Should an hourly consumption event be received, nothing will happen as the app is not programmed to act on it.

Rules

The Technical details also includes three rules that will be scheduled to run daily:

- ScheduleGasDaily
- ScheduleElectricityDaily
- ScheduleWaterDaily

These rules are configured to send the **daily** reading values from the IoT platform to the Planon application.

The daily readings are based on the hourly readings.

Create a digital twin

You have already created a digital twin definition, now we are going to create a digital twin for it.

Procedure

- Go to Assets > Properties step select the property for which you want to receive reading.
- 2. On the action panel, click Create digital twin

The **Digital twin definition** dialog appears - a digital twin must be linked to a digital twin definition.

3. Find and select the digital twin definition that you have created.

In the background, in the IoT platform, it will now create a digital twin, a group template, rules. You can check this by going to the IoT plaform.

The digital twin does not yet have readings, because no devices have been linked yet.

IoT platfom settings

When creating a digital twin for **Smart Utility Metering**, a number of settings are automatically created in the IoT platform.

Templates

If you go to **Templates** > **Group templates**, you can see that out-of-the-box, a group template has been created for your digital twin definition.

To identify it, the classname and name of the app are postfixed to the group template name.

Click it to open the side panel. On the **General** tab, you will see that a number of fields have been prefilled.

Events

Go to the **Events** tab. Here you can see the data points that correspond with those specified in the app's context.

	General	Events	0	Properties	5
		⊕ Add (Custom Event	🕀 Add ev	vent
con	Name	Description	Active		
ē	GasHourly			5	
0	GasDaily			5	
0	ElectricityHourly			9	
0	ElectricityDaily			0	
Ģ	WaterHourly			9	
9	WaterDaily			5	
Resu	lts				

These have been correctly configured and are ready for use immediately!

• Hourly events are based on actual device data (daily readings are a summarization of hourly readings)

• Customers will still have to link physical devices for receiving readings.

Things

Go to **Things** > **All Things** and note that the property that was selected when creating the digital twin in the Planon application, is now in the list of Digital twins (linked to the correct group template)

i

Group 28	Jubilee Hills	(Property)		×
Overview	Properties	Charts	Readings	Location
Group				
Group Template	2			
demo(com.pla	anonsoftware.digita	l.twin.definition	.SmartUtili	0
* Group Name	tills (Property)			
no (Joones (ins (Foperal)			
Parent Group				
Please select				×.
Additional Pr	operties			
Custom ID				
Custom ID				

Rules

Under **Rules** > **All rules**, the rules related to **Smart Utility Metering** are also automatically created and activated (identified by the group template ID).

These rules are triggered on a daily basis and are configured to send messages to the Planon application containing:

- data points
- values (readings)
- date/time stamp

As mentioned ealier, the JSON body also contains the

"pnName":"DailyConsumption"

Receiving such message body at the Planon application will trigger the **Smart Utility Metering** app to process the events and create meter readings.

Edit digital twin

Procedure

 Go to , select your property (for which you created a digital twin definition) and click Edit digital twin.

For more information, see Editing a digital twin.

The Digital twin links - properties dialog apepars.

View code </th
8
E (

This dialog contains settings that are app-specific. The settings here enable you to specify the meters for displaying the reading values received from the IoT platform.

2. Select the meters for electricity, gas and water and click OK.

Link physical devices

Before being able to send measurement readings to the Planon application, you need to connect your physical devices in the IoT platform.

Procedure

- 1. Go to the IoT platform and select All things
- 2. On the Properties tab, under Groups, link the device to the digital twin.

When this is done, everything is operational and you will receive data once the hourly schedule has run.

You have now linked physical devices to your digital twin in the IoT platform. This twin is connected to its counterpart in the Planon application and will start sending readings.

In the IoT platform, the data readings will appear on your digital twin > **Overview** tab.



These

These readings are sent to the Planon application. On the Planon application side, only the daily readings will result in creating a meter reading.

Updating the solution

Planon supports updating Digital twin definitions to ensure that customers will get the latest system definitions.

On the **Digital twin definitions** level, when you click the update action **Sync with IoT platform**, a check is performed to verify if a newer version of the definition is available.

If this is the case, the action will ensure that on the Planon IoT side, all settings are updated (group template, rule, data points) so that customers can reuse existing definitions.

Adding functionality

However, to be able to provide new functionality, Planon reserves the right to update system setting or add data points during an upgrade.

Retaining settings

Yet, this is not the case for customer settings. In fact, customer configuration is retained. For example: **Data to aggregate** and **Aggregation level** - these are customer configurations that are respected.

Deleting components

On **Group template** level, when a data point becomes obsolete, Planon will not delete it, but will no longer maintain it. It will be considered as if is defined by the customer and it will remain as is.

On **Rules** level, customers can add conditions or change settings. Here, Planon reserves the right to change all settings if necessary. Same goes for **Actions** - this means that actions defined by the user might be deleted during an upgrade so that only system action will remain.

Receiving readings

Once the configuration is done and everything is in place, the meter readings registered at the IoT platform are received and acted on by the Planon application.

Meters

- Go to Meters > Meters selection level and select your property from the list.
- 2. Go to Meter readings.
 - After the scheduled synchronization with the IoT platform, the new meter readings will be listed (showing a time stamp of the reading and not that of the inbound message).
 - The readings will always be *gauge readings* (not counter readings) this is predefined.
 - Ruling ensures that any mandatory fields match the IoT platform requirements.

Assets

Once the readings have been processed, the values reported by the IoT platform will now also be available for your Digital twin definition.

- 1. Go to **Assets** and select the property to which the Digital twin definition was linked.
- 2. Click the **Digital twin** view in the data panel the data points will be displayed.



Handling errors

In the Planon application, messages sent by the IoT platform are received by the Connector (**Inbox inbound messages**).

If messages cannot be processed, they are listed in the Failed inbound messages step.

Planon	Inbound me	essages			34	ny 📾 🔺 📍 Surray	ISOR S
Q search		-					
	inbex inbound messages Proces	sed inbound messages Tailed inbound m	essages				
W Hame							
😔 loT settings	O No fitter - click to edd or show file	10	0.1	General Audit info		 Introduction 	
V System connector	Additional info 👘 🕸 Containe	# Search	1 O Q			A loose	
	0			 Message ID 	13ta35e8-0022-01a7-0737-0x4a690971a3		
DLEPHER events	C. Hanning	Married Married D	Instant I	• Fram	Planon IaT	A 1998	
Decision models	Contraction of the	Laund- Launder	Learner of	 System type 	system.lsT	Report	
Inbound new messages	Cirretorio messages (* rote)			 Message type 	Accelerator	n B Report	
Dutbound raw messages	felanates Miles	Action 13ba7568-8622-41a7-87874	64a. 16/01/202.	System status	2. Falad	0	
	-D × oymenula	Access 72%28e1-a218-418-ace5-52	all2. 15/01/202.	Comment			
B Housed messages	Tel.metrya × 🗗	Action 10:02006-8053-4a8d-8d29-a	16b., 14/01/282.,	(Account name: 1014/0187	Execution failed (attempts 9) na further attempts will be made to execute this even		
 Outbound messages. 	- X systemisT	Action /6/110056-6401-4256-6940-4	401. 10/01/202.	(SLST_2223)The 'Gauge' m	usi be set.		
E Attributes	ToLmeraya × 📴	Action 04615d/9-d0fb-4889-046e-b5	296 06/01/202				
	Tetressys × 🗗	Accent 07cee819-039c-4862-6341-1	1170 05/01/202				
P withouse	Tolmanya 🗙 🔂	Action 974b1483-aallo-4384 a0a3-5	681_ 04/01/202_	Editional info	498050 streaders remember 200000	(144507-0/H)	
Live app 🖂	Tol.mozeja × 🛱	Action e54187e4-711o-4799-6666-5	24b 03/01/282	· Minter and the small based	a.		
C since	- A planansoftware.dev	planorio: 29103ee0-3d40-ta45-bc15-3	058 02/01/282	etition jain 16 00 20 20 UTC	2023		
	a x planoroottywys.dev	planonios /908/904-6357-43a6-8786-6	02/01/282.				
Accounts ~	- X planancoftware.dev	planorioz //1053685-46da-4ed4-68w9-3	866 02/01/202				
et ausiness processes	a planorsoftware.dev	planoniot adlac7cb-fe7Y-4abb-adef-6b	02/01/202		499945 characters remaining (50000	(maximum)	
	A planarochvare.dev	planorice 14c20d2d-e719-41d0-adc01	Mide_ 02/01/202_	Actributes			
System settings ~	A planaraphyana.dev	planonics c0113a22-0231-4acdi-07eF-0e	758. 02/01/202.	STRING': 'SIDINODA	68008e8771ca1e*		
B System info ~	A planorsoftware.dev	planoriot 50/52985-54a5-44aa-b25b-4	0087 01/01/202	"digtalTwinDefectionid"			
	- X planaraothvara.dev	planonios a423a425-o453-4184-9a040	A30 01/01/202	1	Induprent as your		
Alerts .	X planaraphylana dav	planonice 855c56c1-2208-4a59-ab25-fa	404. 01/01/282.	"arguments") ("STRAG") "(L'deteorie			
III Reservations (1st gen) ~	- X planaraphyana.dev	planomics 01511044-0078-46aa-05c1-02	198 01/01/202	1			
	A planaroottywe.dev	planomics 43eh:007-9e98-4d;3-8346-102	925. 01/01/282.	STRING" TellyComp	mption'		
i = Reservations (2nd gen) ~	Ay descentions to	algorithm Thermotic and Alexandric a	AR. 2101200	1			_
() Marketplace	Courte All None (4)	(3 2.8(3)			- 499487 characters remaining (500000	(maximum) Cancel	Silve

The Connector will stop processing messages after nine attempts. The **Comment** field lists the reason for failing to process a message.

The values in the Attribute field originate from the corresponding rule in the IoT platform.

Automatically creating work orders

Based on receiving events from Planon IoT, it is possible to automatically have work orders created in the Planon application.

How to configure it

This feature works for both ESG use cases with a slight deviation for Smart utility metering, as explained later.

- Go to **Digital twins** and select a digital twin definition. Remember, this can either be Smart climatized-asset managment or Smart utility metering.
- 2. Go to Digital twin templates level and select your definition from the list.
- 3. Go to the **Settings** tab.
- 4. Here, in Order reference, you can link a standard order.

If an event is received (see, for example receiving notifications), a work order is automatically created.

How it works

Going back to the **Digital twin definitions** level > **Technical details** tab, here you can see the system actions and rules that are available for the solution.

Example

A *Temperature too high rule* sends a *Temperature too high* event to the Planon application.

If this event is received by Planon, a check is performed to verify:

- The asset for which the action was sent.
- Whether already a work order was created for this event by Planon IoT.

If no work order was already created, it will now be created automatically (the description will be used as name). The work order's initial status will be *Reported*.

While this has happened, it is possible that another event for the same asset is received, for example *Humidity too high* or *Temperature within Range*.

If this is the case, the new event will be added to the work order that was already created so that this becomes the single point of information. The information will be appended as a communication log:

Add communication log

	alue 28 at 2022-10-24T1	1:18:15.883Z				
4	alders 3/15/2023 15:31 emperatureTooHigh	Communication logs				
1	alue 30 at 2022-10-24T1	1:19:15.883Z				
1	alders 3/15/2023 15:32 emperatureWithinRang	Communication logs				
1	alue 30 at 2022-10-24T1	1:21:15.883Z				
					Send	
		500000 characte	rs remaining (500	00 maximum)	Send	

If this work order is already *Completed* and another event is received, a new work order will be created.

Smart utility metering

For Smart utility metering, creating a work order works slightly different.

This definition only has a single system action: DailyConsumption, which creates a meter reading.

As this cannot be used for a notification, a user action is added: ConsumptionExceeded.

This enables the customer to create a rule with a condition

For convenience, you can simply copy the JSON definition from the Technical details and paste that in Planon IoT:



When such event is received, a standard order will be created as already described earlier.

Please note that Smart utility metering does not have a *Restore* action. So, if there is a Consumption Exceeded event, this cannot be canceled by a Restore event. Consequently, the work order always needs to be manually completed.

DTAP support

To test or develop new software versions, it is customary to use a phased approach called DTAP.

Each letter in the acronym stands for a distinct phase:

- ٠ Develop
- Testing
- Acceptance •
- ٠ Production

This setup could also be used if a mistake is found to restore an application in Production and replace it with an earlier version.



i

For the Planon application and IoT platform, DTAP is supported (only for Cloud). When restoring *Production* > *Production*, IoT remains unaffected.

How it works

In your **Environment management** gadget, you can choose to restore a backup for an instance. Depending on the selected backup, specific actions regarding Planon IoT are carried out. These actions are only triggered when going from:

• Production > non-production

Example

Production > Acceptance

non-production > non-production

Example

Testing > Acceptance

IoT Platform

When restoring a backup, in the IoT platform, **all** IoT artifacts are removed (digital twins, rules, configuration).

Planon application

In the Planon application, the **Clean-up loT links** action ensures that the linked loT values is purged from the database, because the Planon application still holds references to IoT artifacts. If the database is not purged, these IoT artifacts could result in synchronization issues.

To be sure, digital twin definitions will not be removed, but their IoT counterparts will be purged. These can subsequently be recreated if necessary (**Create digital twin**).

Example

In the following scenario, the customer restores their *Production* environment to *Acceptance*.



This will result in an emtpy shell that can again be built up if necessary.

If the IoT platform is in use and a restore backup is triggered, the **Clean-up IoT links** action is required!

The **Clean-up IoT links** action is a technical action that is meant to be triggered by the Planon SDK. For now, however, this action must be triggered *manually* to ensure that the IoT artifacts are removed from the Planon application.

Sync with IoT platform

The **Sync with IoT platform** action synchronizes the settings or configuration between the Planon application and the IoT platform. As such, it is triggered from the Planon application end.

It's purpose is threefold:

- It updates user settings
- It updates the definition when a new app is created containing new fields, rules, etc.
- It can be used to carry out a Restore to factory settings this will reset to default settings.

• The Sync with IoT platform action is available at Digital twins > Digital twin definitions level.

- Planon assumes that the settings in the Planon application are leading. Therefore, apply settings here, instead of in the IoT platform.
- Synchronization is automatically triggered when saving the Ditgital twin definition (via a background action).

Smart Climatized-Asset Management

Smart Climatized-Asset Management is an out-of-the-box solution that provides easy monitoring on asset conditions.

- Temperature too high / too low
- Power off
- Humidity too high / too low
- Door open
- · Electricity consumption Kwh

Smart Climatized-Asset Management

- Works for Assets and Spaces to which you can link a digital twin,
- Provides notifications about conditions that have been breeched based on real time readings.

Once enabled, the Smart Climatized-Asset Management feature **automatically** creates data points, group templates, rules and other important components on the IoT platform. As such, the solution provides a plug-and-play IoT experience.

Substitution Planon Create digital twin Create digital twin Create digital twin Device data Period Device data Device data

How does it work?

Smart climatized-asset management enables companies/organizations to get a tighter control on monitoring their assets and helps them respond to and resolve issues quickly if they occur.

Use case

loT-based real-time monitoring and operational insights on (environmental) conditions of climatized assets and spaces, and timely identified need for interventions.

The use case applies to <u>climatized assets</u> (e.g., refrigerators, freezers) and <u>climatized</u> <u>spaces</u> (e.g., server rooms, cold rooms, freezer rooms).

Planon		Inbound rat	w message	s				Today 🗃	8 7	SUPERVISOR	s
Q, Search		Index indound raw messages	Transformed inbound raw messe	Failed inbound raw message	5						
# Home		No filter - click to add or show f	iters		ο τ	General Audi	it info		6	bound raw messag	e •
Decision models		Addroenal info \$ Con	ans & Search		0 9				1 1	Calebe	
Intround new messages		0				Message ID		5007-894-2413-4425-849-35(070872016			
Dutbound raw messa		S	Message type	Message ID	Inse	 Sugars type 		Default of		Thores	-
A Inbound messages		inbound raw messages (23)				· Message type		Action	111	Report	
A Cothough messager		🛿 🗹 syssen.is7	Action	6897e98e3413-4425-6e9-363	9_ 210	 Property set 		Accelerator			
- outcome messages		Telerenye 👻 🖺	Actor	6097e9fe-3413-4425-8e# 9h3	19., 210	System status		1, Transformed	6		
E Attributes		2 - system.iuT	Action	6097e9fe3x13-6435-6a9-35.0	9 210	Addisonal info					
AppSuite	- 1	Telemonya * B	Action	60317622-04a1-48a3-6357-ea88	A. 210						
Live and		a v system luT	Action	6007e96e3113-6125-849-352	13 21.0						
	1	2 - systemis?	Actor	6007e9te-3413-4425-8etf-31c37	1. 210						
Riosks	1	a v system.isT	Appen	6097e9fe3z13-4425-8e9-942	12., 21.0			500000 characters remaining (500000 maximum)			
Accounts	- 1	2 v oymerninT	Action	6097v99e-3x13-6425-8x9F-31x2	0 210	 Memage body 					
		S + systemist	Actor	el170a9w0420-40c3/6323-e43	a., 210	Cversion"/"1.0.0","/dg De12","tomesiorep"/1,	gitalTuorid" ,"argument	**E3Maeae9x5e60903ae30e13*;*#gtaffwmDefinition1***G3Maeae3x5e60903ae3 ts1(*datapont***Humdity*;*atue****237;*eedingDate***2023**0-			
 Business processes 	1	2 v system.luT	Action	64/39795-9426-4436-85#F-180	0., 210	24710-54-15-8890000	02.7. sunos	(C)[InName1(HamoleyEooHigh1]]			
System settings	-	Se v systemist	Actes	e00095ee-2956-4268-8e8e-771	4., 210						
further into	. I	S Y system.is7	Action	c1#2401-1017-4261-8728-2328	 210 						
- special state	1	🗿 🖌 ayasamilaT	Action	7x8%775-4470-4x40-0256-9672	5., 210						
Alerts	•	S . system.tuT	Amer	10+04030-0201-0052-0121-076	6. 210						
Planon ioT		🗃 🖌 system.isT	Action	562a8025-18ce-4bd1-a698-605	c. 210						
d man		🖼 🛩 system.isT	Actes	149x3x234850-4x34 6x15-325	a., 210						
A piller peut		🕃 🖌 kystemist	Action	4519x301-3545-4732-97x8-191	6 21/0						
IoT settings		Televenter 🖌 🗟	Action	54642ex0474e439e449257a3	8., 214						
E Reservations (1st gen)	-	🗃 🖌 system.luT	Action	ee003a11-699-Au0e-6069-1111	0. 210						
									100	Carried	
Marketplace		Court All None						31505 characters remaining (32768 maximum)	1		1000

Configuration

This section describes the steps/configuration required to enable **Smart Climatized-Asset Management**.

Add a digital twin definition

The digital twin definition features a number of fields that can be used by Planon partners or solution developers when creating apps on the Planon platform.

Smart Climatized-Asset Management is a system app, which means that it is preinstalled and (as of L91) available in your Planon environment and can be used out ofthe-box.

Procedure

1. Go to **Digital twins** and add a new definition.

See Creating a digital twin definition for more information.

- 2. Enter a name to uniquely identify your digital twin.
- 3. Specify a business object.

Smart Climatized-Asset Management is only available for **Assets** and **Spaces**. In the dialog box, you can move both business object to **In use**, which enables you to use a single Digital twin definition for both assets and spaces.

4. In the Classname field, select the Smart Climatized-Asset Management app.

The app is developed to make available the functionality as described in the use case.

5. Click Save.

The new definition is created. Automatically, a number of components are now created in the Planon application.

Preconfigured settings

Selecting the app and saving the digital twin definition unlocks configuration specified by the app.

When saving the Digital twin definition, automatically the group template will be created in the IoT Platform, reflecting the details of the digital twin definition (data points, rules).

Technical details tab

On the digital twin definition's **Technical details** tab, you will see the following items:

- Data points
- System actions

See also: restore actions.

- Rules
- User actions

These, correspond with entities created in the IoT Platform.

Restore to factory settings

It is possible for application manager to restore digital twin definitions to their original settings. This can be necessary if a digital twin definition no longer functions as required.

Performing a reset will only reinstate the original settings - data that is stored is not affected.

Procedure

- 1. Go to and select your digital twin definition.
- 2. On the action panel, click **Sync with IoT platform**. A dialog box appears.
- Set the field Reset to factory settings? to Yes and click OK. A message appears - read this message carefully before proceeding.
- 4. Click Proceed.

The reset will be carried out - refresh your screen to verify your restored settings.

Create a digital twin

You have already created a digital twin definition, now we are going to create a digital twin for it.

Although Assets is used here, Smart Climatized-Asset Management also works for Spaces.

Procedure

- 1. Go to **Assets** and select an asset that you want to monitor.
- 2. On the action panel, click Create digital twin

The **Digital twin definition** dialog appears - a digital twin must be linked to a digital twin definition.

3. Find and select the digital twin definition that you have created.

In the background, in the IoT platform, it will now create a digital twin, a group template, rules. You can check this by going to the IoT platform.

IoT platform settings

When creating a digital twin for **Smart Climatized-Asset Management**, a number of settings are automatically created in the IoT platform.

After linking your digital twin to the digital twin definition, automatically the following components are created in the IoT Platform:

- Group template
- Events



Rules

All	Rules Save	As Report Export Perfort V		
C	Starth	Q. () Filters		
	Active	Name	Description	Application
	•	SmartClimatizedAbsetManagement_PowerOff 63%aeac5d5e60903ae30e12		BP
П		SmartClimatizedAssetManagement_HumidityTooHigh 63/4aeac9d5e609d3ae30e12		8.p
		SmartClimatizedAssetManagement_HumidityTooLow 63f4aeac9d5e60903ae30e12		BP
		SmartClimatizedAssetManagement_TemperatureTooLow 63f4aeac9d5e60903ae30e52		0.0
		SmartClimatizedAssetManagement_DoorOpen 63f4aeac9d5e60903ae30e12		BP
C		SmartClimatizedAssetManagement_TemperatureTooHigh 63f4aeac9d5e60903ae30e12		EP.

Link physical devices

Before being able to send measurement readings to the Planon application, you need to connect your physical devices in the IoT platform.

Procedure

- 1. Go to the IoT platform and select All things
- 2. On the **Properties** tab, under **Groups**, link the device to the digital twin.

When this is done, everything is operational and you will receive data once the hourly schedule has run.

You have now linked physical devices to your digital twin in the IoT platform. This twin is connected to the Planon application and will start sending notifications.

Updating the solution

Planon supports updating Digital twin definitions to ensure that customers will get the latest system definitions.

On the **Digital twin definitions** level, when you click the update action **Sync with IoT platform**, a check is performed to verify if a newer version of the definition is available.

If this is the case, the action will ensure that on the Planon IoT side, all settings are updated (group template, rule, data points) so that customers can reuse existing definitions.

Adding functionality

However, to be able to provide new functionality, Planon reserves the right to update system setting or add data points during an upgrade.

Retaining settings

Yet, this is not the case for customer settings. In fact, customer configuration is retained. For example: **Data to aggregate** and **Aggregation level** - these are customer configurations that are respected.

Deleting components

On **Group template** level, when a data point becomes obsolete, Planon will not delete it, but will no longer maintain it. It will be considered as if is defined by the customer and it will remain as is.

On **Rules** level, customers can add conditions or change settings. Here, Planon reserves the right to change all settings if necessary. Same goes for **Actions** - this means that actions defined by the user might be deleted during an upgrade so that only system action will remain.

Receiving notifications

Once the setup is completed and everything is configured, notifications will be sent to the Planon application if conditions are met.

These notifications are sent to the Planon application as Inbound raw messages.

Planon		Inbound	raw messages	P					Today 🗃 🔺	7 Aurenvisor
Q, Search		PECE HEALTH THE PARTY	en Traditional information	Telled interved raw metrage						
# mm		C ha that - this is easy of	s altrasy filteria		• •	General	Audit Infis			
P Demine weden		Antoniariata	Edward Edwards.	1	p q					 woound ow messages
RE record on record		0				1 Message ID		WARME OF BRIDE AND AND ADDRESS OF		R Inter
D. Contra and internet		h alternation	I Manifold Street	Manual D	Ind	T Fran		Parcel Id		Report -
C. Contraction		Deteoil ces dettant	100	Value of C		· Spears type		6/000-00 ⁷		B Report
S record metallic			and the second se		-	* Rispers an		Accession		
I+ Outbound metriciget	с <u>і</u>	R d annahit	and a second	Lotheine with orth han man		Summarian.		1. Transformed	0	
E Antibates	- 1	a consta		Los was brit and and		Automated with				
Appliate	-21	S / second	Artist	10117022-0441-0442-0107-eads						
D	- 21	B- manual	Antoni	solvine brianch are and						
T rue site		a summer	Actual	1007409-0113-4425-649-310	R. 110					
C Riosan	- 14	By second	Acces	1007em-2013-4425-649-952	1. 210			\$00000 characters reine	(mg (200000 maximum)	
 Accounts 	- 24	2 - unmil	Adapt	10/7499-2113-015-54#-352	a. 210	* Maturga tridy			and the second se	
		Br speecht	Actual	0011049-0420-00-0-04221-448	a. ne	Creation 171.0	Arringselfuore	1. Sitteesel distinction and regardless deformance of distances of Newslaw Context (12). Newslaw has a 1. Statement of Newslaw Context (12).	5201aaau(9d5ad20023aa)	
et avaness processes	- 31	ar yearst	Anne	partitive water water when	1. 21	201504/58	1000002.7. 94646	Container/Humaily/Sumght)	11.2	
O System settings	\sim	B - americal	Acces	p00099we-2954-42x8-5abe-175	. 14					
B topor late		B . Annala	Aller	040401007-031403-032	. 20					
-	- 21	2 e general	Acust	Terro 4440-4250-9670	A. 210					
AMITE	- 31	B - special	Appen	Hereitabb-sbei-eistb witzt witz	4. 210					
E Flanco lat	12	B + appendix	Adapt	3a2a4425-0ka-itai1-a006-0k	- 24					
of Internet		B + newsist	Arms	149424231832-1434 sart5-825	4. 21d					
		Trinenty ~ B	8201	80194381-3040-4752-9746-191	6					
V toTostings		ar interviet	Artest	34642ex0474e-23fe-eH2-5764	8. 716					
IE Reservations (1): gen	9 -	2 - otenut	Attact	eellitatti filmi-tade üblik (111	8., 210					
O Marketplace		Door at the	w).					3000 (Feature of the	international distance	Easter Cline

These messages can be monitored and appropriate action can be taken to overcome the situation that is reported.



In time, these messages will be automatically processed and converted into work orders.

Example

The sensor records in a climate controlled environment records that its has been too high for longer than 15 minutes.

This triggers a condition that subsequently results in a message that is sent to the Planon application.

Appropriate action can be taken to resolve the situation.

Should the situation revert to *normal* again, a restore action is sent to annul the previous alert:

- · Humidity within range
- Temperature within range
- Power restored
- Door restored

Automatically creating work orders

Based on receiving events from Planon IoT, it is possible to automatically have work orders created in the Planon application.

How to configure it

This feature works for both ESG use cases with a slight deviation for Smart utility metering, as explained later.

- 1. Go to **Digital twins** and select a digital twin definition. Remember, this can either be Smart climatized-asset managment or Smart utility metering.
- 2. Go to Digital twin templates level and select your definition from the list.
- 3. Go to the **Settings** tab.
- 4. Here, in **Order reference**, you can link a standard order.

If an event is received (see, for example receiving notifications), a work order is automatically created.

How it works

Going back to the **Digital twin definitions** level > **Technical details** tab, here you can see the system actions and rules that are available for the solution.

Example

A *Temperature too high rule* sends a *Temperature too high* event to the Planon application.

If this event is received by Planon, a check is performed to verify:

- The asset for which the action was sent.
- Whether already a work order was created for this event by Planon IoT.

If no work order was already created, it will now be created automatically (the description will be used as name). The work order's initial status will be *Reported*.

While this has happened, it is possible that another event for the same asset is received, for example *Humidity too high* or *Temperature within Range*.

If this is the case, the new event will be added to the work order that was already created so that this becomes the single point of information. The information will be appended as a communication log:

Add communication log

Valu	e 28 at 2022-10-24T1	1:18:15.8832					
Aaid Tem	ers 3/15/2023 15:31 peratureTooHigh	Communication	logs				
Valu	e 30 at 2022-10-24T1	1:19:15.883Z					
102.525							
Aaid Tem	ers 3/15/2023 15:32 peratureWithinRans	Communication	logs				
Valu	e 30 at 2022-10-24T1	1:21:15.883Z					
						Send	
		500000 chiar	acters remainin	g (500000 maximu	um)	Send	

If this work order is already *Completed* and another event is received, a new work order will be created.

Smart utility metering

For Smart utility metering, creating a work order works slightly different.

This definition only has a single system action: DailyConsumption, which creates a meter reading.

As this cannot be used for a notification, a user action is added: ConsumptionExceeded.

This enables the customer to create a rule with a condition

For convenience, you can simply copy the JSON definition from the **Technical details** and paste that in Planon IoT:



When such event is received, a standard order will be created as already described earlier.

Please note that Smart utility metering does not have a *Restore* action. So, if there is a Consumption Exceeded event, this cannot be canceled by a Restore event. Consequently, the work order always needs to be manually completed.

Synchronizing settings

After adding a digital twin definition, creating a digital twin and linking it to your definition, the Planon application can communicate with the IoT Platform.

Smart Climatized Asset Management comes with a number of predefined settings. Changing these settings was already possible on the IoT platform side, now it is also possible to change these settings from the Planon application.

Procedure

- 1. Go to and select the digital twin definition that is created for your Smart Climatized Asset.
- Go to the Settings tab, here you will see the available settings and their respective values.

General Settings	Audit info	Technical details					
Classname settings	com.planonsoftware.maintenancemgt.server.digitaltwindefinition.:						
		View code 🌾					
* door open duration	15						
* humidity High	90						
* humidity High duration	15						
* humidity Low	40						
* humidity low duration	15						
* power outage duration	15						
* <u>temperature High</u>	7						
* <u>temperature Low</u>	4						
* <u>temperature high duration</u>	15						
* temperature low duration	15						

- 3. Edit the values of these settings as required and click **Save**. This will only save the new settings.
- 4. To apply the new settings to the IoT platform, click **Sync with IoT platform** on the action panel.

The settings on the IoT platform will be overwritten.

DTAP support

To test or develop new software versions, it is customary to use a phased approach called DTAP.

Each letter in the acronym stands for a distinct phase:

- Develop
- Testing
- Acceptance
- Production

This setup could also be used if a mistake is found to restore an application in Production and replace it with an earlier version.

For the Planon application and IoT platform, DTAP is supported (only for Cloud).
 When restoring *Production* > *Production*, IoT remains unaffected.

How it works

In your **Environment management** gadget, you can choose to restore a backup for an instance. Depending on the selected backup, specific actions regarding Planon IoT are carried out. These actions are only triggered when going from:

Production > non-production

Example

Production > Acceptance

non-production > non-production

Example

Testing > Acceptance

IoT Platform

When restoring a backup, in the IoT platform, **all** IoT artifacts are removed (digital twins, rules, configuration).

Planon application

In the Planon application, the **Clean-up loT links** action ensures that the linked loT values is purged from the database, because the Planon application still holds references to IoT artifacts. If the database is not purged, these IoT artifacts could result in synchronization issues.

To be sure, digital twin definitions will not be removed, but their IoT counterparts will be purged. These can subsequently be recreated if necessary (**Create digital twin**).

Example

In the following scenario, the customer restores their *Production* environment to *Acceptance*.



This will result in an emtpy shell that can again be built up if necessary.

If the IoT platform is in use and a restore backup is triggered, the **Clean-up IoT links** action is required!

The **Clean-up IoT links** action is a technical action that is meant to be triggered by the Planon SDK. For now, however, this action must be triggered *manually* to ensure that the IoT artifacts are removed from the Planon application.

Sync with IoT platform

The **Sync with IoT platform** action synchronizes the settings or configuration between the Planon application and the IoT platform. As such, it is triggered from the Planon application end.

It's purpose is threefold:

- It updates user settings
- It updates the definition when a new app is created containing new fields, rules, etc.
- It can be used to carry out a Restore to factory settings this will reset to default settings.

• The Sync with IoT platform action is available at Digital twins > Digital twin definitions level.

• Planon assumes that the settings in the Planon application are leading. Therefore, apply settings here, instead of in the IoT platform.

Synchronization is automatically triggered when saving the Ditgital twin definition (via a background action).

Smart Asset Tracking

Smart Asset Tracking is an out-of-the-box solution that enables easy monitoring of (mobile) assets based on GPS location data.

Smart Asset Tracking

- Works on the Assets business object only.
- Provides a street map data point with a near-exact location of an asset and various history views (Day, Week, Month).

Once enabled, Smart Asset Tracking **automatically** creates a data point, group template, rules and other important components on the IoT platform. As such, the solution provides a plug-and-play IoT experience.



How does it work?

Smart Asset Tracking helps companies/organizations to geographically monitor and track mobile assets based on near actual GPS location data.

Use case

When installed, the smartassettracking app:

- Enables GPS asset tracking of including Live and History views.
- Creates a digital twin definition and provides a new data point type a street map.

The smart asset tracking use case is only available on **Assets** and allows you to track a valuable asset (pool car, shipment, ...).

- It provides a near live view of the location
- The location data is refreshed every 5 minutes (defined by the app)
- Interaction: the street map data point allows you to grab and move the map. Also, you can zoom in/ zoom out.
- · It has a history view that becomes available if you click the expand

icon (\square). This opens a details window and shows a Day view (you can select a different date or select a Week or Month view).

It shows a map with all measured locations plotted on it and a line that connects the locations. It does not show the route that was taken to get from one point to another because this is not measured.



You can also disable/enable the lines connecting the locations.

If your device has GPS and provides location data and it is connected to the digital twin in the IoT Platform, its location data is shared with the Digital twin counterpart in Planon and the street map data point is populated.

Configuration

This section describes the steps/configuration required to enable Smart Asset Tracking.

Add a digital twin definition

The digital twin definition features a number of fields that can be used by Planon partners or solution developers when creating apps on the Planon platform.

Procedure

1. Go to **Digital twins** and add a new definition.

See Creating a digital twin definition for more information.

- 2. Enter a name to uniquely identify your digital twin.
- 3. Specify a business object.

Smart Asset Tracking is only available for Assets.

- In the Classname field, select the Smart Asset Tracking app. The app is developed to make available the functionality as described in the use case.
- 5. Click Save.

The new definition is created. Automatically, a number of components are now created in the Planon application.

Preconfigured settings

Selecting the app and saving the digital twin definition unlocks configuration specified by the app.

When saving the Digital twin definition, automatically the group template will be created in the IoT Platform, reflecting the details of the digital twin definition (data point, rules).

Technical details tab

The digital twin definition's **Technical details** tab will reflect the components that are implemented by the app. These correspond with the entities created in the IoT Platform.

Restore to factory settings

It is possible for application manager to restore digital twin definitions to their original settings. This can be necessary if a digital twin definition no longer functions as required.

Performing a reset will only reinstate the original settings - data that is stored is not affected.

Procedure

- 1. Go to and select your digital twin definition.
- On the action panel, click Sync with IoT platform.
 A dialog box appears.
- Set the field Reset to factory settings? to Yes and click OK. A message appears - read this message carefully before proceeding.
- 4. Click **Proceed**.

The reset will be carried out - refresh your screen to verify your restored settings.

Create a digital twin

After creating a digital twin definition, you can now create a digital twin for it.

Procedure

- 1. Go to **Assets** and select an asset that you want to track.
- 2. On the action panel, click Create digital twin.

The **Digital twin definition** dialog appears - a digital twin must be linked to a digital twin definition.

3. Find and select the digital twin definition that you have created.

In the background, in the IoT platform, it will now create a digital twin and its components.

IoT platform settings

When creating a digital twin for **Smart Asset Tracking**, a number of settings are automatically created in the IoT platform.

After linking your digital twin to the digital twin definition, automatically the required components are created in the IoT Platform.

Go to **All things**, and select your digital twin to review the settings.

Link physical devices

Before being able to send location data to the Planon application, you need to connect your physical devices in the IoT platform.

Procedure

- 1. Go to the **IoT platform** and select **All things**.
- 2. On the Properties tab, under Groups, link the device to the digital twin.

When this is done, everything is operational and you will receive data once the hourly schedule has run.

View as 🔠 🖄		All Things 🕑 🗇 minus								Properties	Charts	Readings	Location
			ş	0	Туря	Name	Last Dente . 4	10	Choose location	calculation method			
2 All Things			ø	8	121 Digital Tw	119102 Drivertorythemo	Location Oct 17 2023, 1148/00 PM	652660/0	@ 31.776	74765906918.35.244	@ 10		(0)
Digital Twins O Physical Devices	0		ş	0	Ø Device	Car with GPS	C Location 0/0.17 2023, 1+5:04 PM	652671.0					
Virtual Devices	1								- Alter				
C. Search Groups									a motown Q			A Antonio	
+									Source O	The Case of Dataset		Bedecine Benelepitert parpos	
									Jerus	salem		ai Etrariy Abu Eta	Jaholes Jaholes Arab al Jahole
									Google	Contraction of the second	For	Sanahera al Sharayya Gevelopment purpos Ab al Rum Boochese blow (Sera	
									Location Histo				
		2 8 604	ta -					•					

You have now linked physical devices to your digital twin in the IoT platform. This twin is connected to the Planon application and will start sending location data.

Updating the solution

Planon supports updating Digital twin definitions to ensure that customers will get the latest system definitions.

On the **Digital twin definitions** level, when you click the update action **Sync with IoT platform**, a check is performed to verify if a newer version of the definition is available.

If this is the case, the action will ensure that on the Planon IoT side, all settings are updated (group template, rule, data points) so that customers can reuse existing definitions.

Adding functionality

However, to be able to provide new functionality, Planon reserves the right to update system setting or add data points during an upgrade.

Retaining settings

Yet, this is not the case for customer settings. In fact, customer configuration is retained. For example: **Data to aggregate** and **Aggregation level** - these are customer configurations that are respected.

Deleting components

On **Group template** level, when a data point becomes obsolete, Planon will not delete it, but will no longer maintain it. It will be considered as if is defined by the customer and it will remain as is.

On **Rules** level, customers can add conditions or change settings. Here, Planon reserves the right to change all settings if necessary. Same goes for **Actions** - this means that actions defined by the user might be deleted during an upgrade so that only system action will remain.

DTAP support

To test or develop new software versions, it is customary to use a phased approach called DTAP.

Each letter in the acronym stands for a distinct phase:

- Develop
- Testing
- Acceptance
- Production

This setup could also be used if a mistake is found to restore an application in Production and replace it with an earlier version.

For the Planon application and IoT platform, DTAP is supported (only for Cloud).
When restoring *Production* > *Production*, IoT remains unaffected.

How it works

In your **Environment management** gadget, you can choose to restore a backup for an instance. Depending on the selected backup, specific actions regarding Planon IoT are carried out. These actions are only triggered when going from:

• Production > non-production

Example

Production > Acceptance

non-production > non-production

Example

Testing > Acceptance

IoT Platform

When restoring a backup, in the IoT platform, **all** IoT artifacts are removed (digital twins, rules, configuration).

Planon application

In the Planon application, the **Clean-up loT links** action ensures that the linked loT values is purged from the database, because the Planon application still holds references to IoT artifacts. If the database is not purged, these IoT artifacts could result in synchronization issues.

To be sure, digital twin definitions will not be removed, but their IoT counterparts will be purged. These can subsequently be recreated if necessary (**Create digital twin**).

Example

In the following scenario, the customer restores their *Production* environment to *Acceptance*.



This will result in an emtpy shell that can again be built up if necessary.

If the IoT platform is in use and a restore backup is triggered, the **Clean-up IoT links** action is required!

The **Clean-up IoT links** action is a technical action that is meant to be triggered by the Planon SDK. For now, however, this action must be triggered *manually* to ensure that the IoT artifacts are removed from the Planon application.

Sync with IoT platform

The **Sync with IoT platform** action synchronizes the settings or configuration between the Planon application and the IoT platform. As such, it is triggered from the Planon application end.

It's purpose is threefold:

- It updates user settings
- It updates the definition when a new app is created containing new fields, rules, etc.
- It can be used to carry out a Restore to factory settings this will reset to default settings.



• The Sync with IoT platform action is available at Digital twins > Digital twin definitions level.

• Planon assumes that the settings in the Planon application are leading. Therefore, apply settings here, instead of in the IoT platform.

• Synchronization is automatically triggered when saving the Ditgital twin definition (via a background action).

Index

A

Add digital twin definition 9

С

concepts 8

D

Data point 8 Digital twin Create... 11 Digital twin definition Add 25 Smart asset tracking 38 DTAP support 21, 34, 42

Ε

Edit digital twin 15 Error handling 18 ESG Concept 9

Η

How it works 25

IoT platform Link devices 15 Settings 11

Ρ

Physical devices Link to digital twin 28 Planon IoT Use cases 6

R

Receiving notifications 29 Restore settings 26, 39 Restore to factory settings 26, 39

S

Smart asset tracking Digital twin definition 38 Smart Asset Tracking 37 Configuration 38 Create digital twin 40

How it works 37 IoT platform settings 40 Link devices 40 Preconfigured settings 39 Smart Climatized-Asset Management 24 Configuration 25, 26 Create digital twin 27 IoT Platform settings 27 Smart Utility Metering 7 **Configuration 9** Use case 8 SmartUtilityMeter Receiving readings 17 **SmartUtilityMetering** Preconfigured settings 10 Sync with IoT platform 23, 36, 43 Synchronize settings 33

U

Update 16, 29, 41 Use case 25

W

Work orders Creating 18, 30